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The St. Luke's Episcopal Church complex is situated on the northwest corner 
of Main and Seventh streets in downtown Racine. A church in the Gothic 
Revival style dominates the lot at the corner, with a rectory (now the Parish 
Center) adjacent on Main Street and a parish hall and chapel at the back 
of the church on Seventh jStreet.

THE CHURCH The Church was designed by the Milwaukee architect, Edward 
Townsend Mix, and built in 1866-67. It is built of cream brick, probably 
made in Racine brickyards, and is trimmed with limestone. A 150-foot-high 
entrance tower is situated at the southeast corner of the structure. The 
tower is eighteen feet square, while the church measures 100 feet by 50 feet. 
At the- east gable end of the church is the central entrance, slightly projecting, 
with a pointed gothic arch. Above the entry are two groups of three lancet 
windows under a rose window. The gable is articulated with a corbel table 
with a cross at its crest. A tall lancet window and a corner pier lend 
verticality to the north end of the gable.

The tower at the south end of the gable faces the corner at a 45° angle 
to the church. It features lancet windows, louvered at the third level, 
brick corbelling, and, corner piers with stone weatherings. An arched door 
in the tower matches the main entrance. The steeple is octagonal, with 
four gablets at the base sheltering clocks and supporting small crosses. 
In 1888 the clocks and bells were installed by the Seth Thomas Clock Co. 
and the Meneely Co. respectively. In 1946 the bells were converted to 
electric operation. A recent aluminum cross is mounted on top of the steeple.

The south wall of the church features six small buttresses with limestone 
weatherings separting six lancet windows. A brick corbel table finishes 
the eave line. The north wall is identical, but has been obscured by the 
Parish Center.

Originally, the windows of the church were of painted glass, but in 1966 
nine of them were replaced with stained glass by Conrad Schmidt Studios 
of Milwaukee. Windows on the north wall feature scenes from the nativity, 
crucifiction, resurrection and ascension, while the Virgin Mary and the 
Apostles are pictured in the south windows. The church is unchanged on the 
exterior except for the replacement of the stairs, the windows, and the cross 
and shingles on the steeple.

THE CHAPEL The Chapel of the Holy Spirit was originally one of Racine's
earliest fire houses. It was built in 1849 as Engine House No. 3 and is
sited to the rear of the church. In 1899 it was donated to the church by
Dr. John G. Meachem, Sr. It was converted to chapel between 1911 and 1919.
In 1930 the chapel was given its present appearance. The Chapel has characteristics
of the Gothic Revival style. Its center arched door is flanked by two lancet
windows in the gable end. Brick corbelling accentuates the cornice, and
three crosses in the gable are formed by inset bricks. The doors appear to
be more recent.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The St. Luke's Church complex is an important part of the urban landscape 
of Racine, lending Gothic elegance to the downtown area. St. Luke's 
Church is one of two structures in Racine designed by Edward Townsend 
Mix, one of the major mid-nineteenth century Wisconsin architects. The 
church is notable as one of the oldest Episcopal congregations in 
Wisconsin, whose parishioners founded Racine's first hospital and 
whose fifth rector, Roswell Park, founded Racine College.

ARCHITECTURE

Edward Townsend Mix (1831-1890) was born and studied architecture in 
New Haven, Connecticut. There he worked for Major Stone for seven 
years, before moving to Chicago where he worked for a while with William 
Boyington. In 1856 he moved to Milwaukee where he established his own 
office. Mix used elements of several post-Civil War styles in his 
designs, including the late Gothic Revival, High Victorian Romanesque. 
Several of his buildings are already on the National Register of Historic 
Places. They include the Villa Louis at Prairie du Chien, the First 
Methodist Church at Monroe, and in Milwaukee the Mitchell Building, 
the Mackie Building, All Saint's Cathedral, Immanuel Presbyterian Church, 
St. Paul's Episcopal Church, and the Iron Block. Mix practiced architecture 
for more than thirty years in Wisconsin and is one of the state's 
foremost nineteenth century architects. His tasteful and well-executed 
designs are significant contributions to the architecture of Wisconsin.

St. Luke's Church has excellent late Gothic Revival styling, and is
nearly a mirror image of the First Methodist Church executed by Mix
in Monroe, Wisconsin. Later architects' attempts to apply Gothic stylisms
on the auxilliary buildings may be commendable, but were insignificant
in comparison to the church. These structures complete the complex
and provide an appropriate context for the Gothic church.

1. Sturtevant, A History of 80 Years, pages unnumbered.
2. Ibid.
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Burckel, Nicholas Ed., Racine Growth and Change in a Wisconsin County, 
Racine: Racine County Board of Supervisors, 1977.

Butterfield, C.W., History of Racine and Kenosha Counties, Wisconsin. 
Chicago: Western Historical Co., 1879.
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6. continued

Wisconsin Historical and Architectural Resources Survey 

October 1975 X State

Historic Preservation Division, State Historical Society 

Madison Wisconsin 53706

"St. Luke's Episcopal Church/Chapel/Parish House" was determined eligible by 
the city of Racine (H.U.D.) on 11 December 1978, for the National Register of 
Historic Places.
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PARISH HALL In 1898 the Guildhall (Parish Hall) was built on a lot purchased 
adjacent to the west of the firehouse (chapel). Similar to the Gothic 
Revival styling of the chapel, the Parish Hall is composed of a slightly 
projecting center bay that contains the arched entrance and three lancet 
windows. A cross is recessed in the brickwork above the windows. Paired 
lancet windows at the first and second stories flank the center bay.

PARISH CENTER The rectory was built between 1905 and 1910 and is now used 
as the Parish Center. This two-story and attic building, constructed of 
cream Racine brick, contains some Gothic Revival stylisms. It features short 
horizontal bands of windows incorporated by Gothic labels and is finished 
by a corbel table at the gable and eave line. The covered entry arch projects 
from the facade. It leads to the cloister, between the church and Parish 
Center, that turns, south towardsran entrance to the rear of the church. 
In 1956 an auditorium was added to the rear of the Parish Center, connecting 
to the Parish Hall on Seventh Street.
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RELIGION

St. Luke's is the ninth oldest Episcopal parish in Wisconsin, established 
in 1842. In 1845 the first church of the congregation was completed, 
but in 1866 it was destroyed by fire. The first service was held in 
the new church on September 8, 1876.

The parishioners of the church have been closely associated with St. 
Luke's Hospital and Racine College. Roswell Park, rector of the church 
from 1856 until 1863, was first president of the college, which was 
established in 1852 as a preparatory college of sorts for Nashotah 
House, an Episcopalian seminary in Waukesha County. The Diocesan 
Council decided that "the city which raised six thousand dollars and ., 
acquired property of not less than six acres would be given the school." 
Due largely to the efforts of the Rev. Joseph H. Nichols, Rector of 
St. Luke's, the college was located at Racine.

St. Luke's Hospital was inaugurated by parishioners in 1871. Members
of the church donated money for the rental of a house to be used as a
small hospital. The hospital was chartered in 1872 by the State Legislature
to carry out charitable work. Four years later funds were donated for
a larger building and Mrs. Julia F. Porter, wife of the rector, donated
lots on College Avenue for the hospital. For several years the hospital
committee of St. Luke's Guild raised funds to meet annual expenses.

1. History of the Epsicopal Church in Wisconsin, p. 160
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